IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC08-976 Lower Tribunal No.: 2006-CF-2999-A-W

RENALDO DEVON McGIRTH Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher J. Anderson, Esquire Florida Bar No.: 0976385 645 Mayport Road, Suite 4-G Atlantic Beach, FL 32233

Ph: (904) 246-4448 Fx: (904) 458-8998

and

Jeffrey D. Deen, Regional Counsel Florida Bar No.: 457574 Office of Criminal Conflict and Civil Regional Counsel, Fifth District 151 Wymore Road, Suite 100 Altamonte Springs, FL 32714 Attorneys for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is the initial, direct appeal of a final judgment imposing a sentence of death pursuant to Art. V, § 3 (b) (1), Fla. Const.

References to the record on appeal are made with the letter "R," followed by the record volume number, followed by a "p," followed by the volume page number or numbers. For ease of reading, the Appellant is referred to variously as "Defendant" and "Appellant" and "McGirth." Appellant had two Codefendants.

They are referred to by their last names of "Houston" and "Roberts," respectively. There are three victims in this case: husband James Miller, his wife Diana Miller, and their daughter Sheila Miller. For brevity, they are referred to as "Mr. Miller," "Mrs. Miller," and "Sheila." The words "State" and "prosecution" are used synonymously and interchangeably.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Police Investigation

Officer R. Stroup of the Marion County Sheriff's Office executed the "probable cause" affidavit that preceded Appellant Renaldo McGirth's arrest and indictment. It provides a good overview of the evidence that the State later presented at trial. Officer Stroup alleged that Renaldo McGirth was one of a trio of young, black men who entered the home shared by Mr. and Mrs. Miller and their daughter Sheila on July 21, 2006.

The Miller home was in the "Villages" community of Ocala. R34, p. 7.

This is a secure, gated community. R34, p. 1610-1611. The three assailants had been acquainted with Sheila. R1, p. 7. After she invited them into the family home, they robbed and shot Mr. and Mrs. Miller. They departed in the family's red Ford van, taking Sheila and her parents' bank cards and credit cards with

them. R1, p. 7. A subsequent credit card purchase put police on the trail of the assailants.

A "be-on-the-lookout" dispatch went out over the police radio. A patrol officer heard the dispatch and spotted the Miller family van at a convenience store. He pulled the van over. The van driver initially obeyed and stopped. However, moments later, the driver returned to the roadway and sped away. A high-speed chase ensued. In the end, the van crashed and rolled over. The police apprehended McGirth, Roberts and Houston near the crash site. R1, p. 7. Sheila was injured. The police caught up with her later at Munroe Regional Medical Center. R1, p. 8.

Sheila confirmed to the police that she knew the assailants and had invited them into her family's home. R1, p. 8. She told police that the assailants taped her mouth shut shortly after they entered the home. She said that McGirth pointed a gun at Mrs. Miller. He demanded cash and credit cards and eventually shot Mrs. Miller in the chest. R1, p. 8. The assailants forced family members to move about inside the house. R1, p. 7-9. Sheila said that the assailants made her father lie down on the floor.

Mr. Miller also talked to the police. He told them that the assailants shot

him in the head while he was lying on the floor. R1, p. 7.

Sheila told police that the assailants forced her to make some purchases over the Internet, using her parents' credit cards on the family computer. She described how the assailants placed her in the family van and transported her to some retail stores where they attempted to make purchases with Mr. and Mrs. Miller's bank and credit cards. R1, p. 8-9. Sheila told police about the high-speed vehicular chase. She told police that while the assailants had her in the family van and were fleeing the police, McGirth gave Houston a gun and instructed Houston to kill her. R1, p. 9.

Following the police chase, the three assailants were quickly caught and held in police custody. The police attempted to interview all of them. Appellant McGirth and Co-Defendant Roberts declined to speak. Codefendant Houston did speak and gave the police his version of who did what in the subject crimes. R1, p. 9-10.

Sheila Miller later learned that her mother, Mrs. Miller, had been shot and killed in the incident.

On August 9, 2006, McGirth was indicted on one count of first degree murder with a firearm of Mrs. Miller, one count of attempted first degree murder

with a firearm of Mr. Miller, one count of robbery with a firearm of Mr. and Mrs. Miller, one count of kidnaping with a firearm of Sheila, and one count of felony fleeing or attempting to elude a law enforcement officer. R1, p. 1-4. The indictment contains similar allegations against Houston and Roberts. R1, p. 1-4.

At the time of the crimes, McGirth was just 3 months beyond his 18th birthday. Roberts was 20. Houston, the only minor of the trio, was 17. R1, p. 1-4. Sheila Miller was 40. R24, p. 1579.

B. High-Publicity Case

The jury trial was held at the Marion County Courthouse, the Honorable Judge Brian D. Lambert presiding. Judge Lambert would later say that this was the longest trial he ever presided over. R. 47. P. 3521-3522. It was a high-publicity case. Judge Lambert referred to it "The Villages murder trial." R. 24, p. 29. However, Judge Lambert went to great lengths to obtain a jury that was fair and unaffected by all of the news coverage, publicity and talk. Judge Lambert ordered three separate, 50-person panels of prospective jurors to assure that there would be sufficient jurors left over after all the media-exposed and biased jurors were eliminated and after all the peremptory challenges were exercised. R. 24, p. 23, 47-48. It is noteworthy that Jury selection consumes most

of Volumes 24 through 36 of the record on appeal. Some prospective jurors confirmed that they read or heard or viewed things about the case. However, careful review of the jury-selection transcripts has not revealed a single instance of a juror being seated who was not capable of setting aside all impressions or opinions and rendering a fair verdict based solely on the evidence presented in court. Irwin v. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717 (1961), Davis v. State, 461 So.2d 67 (Fla. 1984), Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347.

At one point during jury selection, a prospective juror told his fellow prospective jurors that he knew of Appellant McGirth from his former employment at the Florida Department of Juvenile Justice. Upon learning of this, Judge Lambert struck the entire, 50-person panel. R28, p. 634; R 29, p. 811. Judge Lambert continued to go to great lengths to assure that subsequent prospective jurors were not adversely affected by information about the Department of Juvenile Justice or the dismissal of a 50-person jury panel, or anything else that might cause prejudice. R31, p. 1216, 1331; R32, p. 1492.

Judge Lambert continued questioning the jurors periodically throughout the trial to assure they had not been exposed to non-trial information about the crimes, the Defendants or the case. R35, p. 1696; R36, p. 1917; R39, p. 2409; R42, p.

2888; R46, p. 3185; R46, p. 3317-3336. It is not error to deny motions to change venue or strike a jury which are based on risk of exposure to improper information unless it is shown that the jurors ultimately seated received and became biased by improper information. Walding v. State, 427 So.2d 1069 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983), Overton v. State, 757 So.2d 537 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000).

In its guilt-phase opening argument, the State admitted that the victims' daughter, Sheila Miller, was not kidnaped. R34, p. 1544. The State added that Sheila Miller was "ostensibly" taken against her will. R34, P. 1546. The State conceded that Houston and Roberts and Sheila Miller knew each other before the subject crimes. The State admitted that Houston pled guilty to second degree murder in exchange for a sentence in the range of 25-40 years. R34, p. 1544. The defense reserved its opening argument until after the presentation of the State's case in chief.

The State called forty separate guilt-phase witnesses. The trial transcripts are extremely voluminous. Fortunately, the issues in this appeal can be fully presented, understood, argued, and adjudicated with reference to less than all of the testimony.

C. Testimony of Neighbor Patricia Murawski

Patricia Murawski was a neighbor of James and Diana Miller. R34, p. 1556-1557. At approximately 1:30 p.m. in the afternoon of July 21, 2006 James Miller approached her excitedly. He asked her to call 911 because his wife had been shot. R34, p. 1562. Ms. Murawski observed a bloody wound in the back of Mr. Miller's head. She applied paper towels to stanch the bleeding. Mr. Miller exclaimed, "... they were robbing us... there are three black men..." R34, p. 1569-1570.

D. Testimony of Mr. Miller

Mr. Miller Testified. He said that he and Mrs. Miller only had one child: Sheila. Mr. Miller testified that Sheila was an alcoholic and a drug abuser. R34, p. 1578-1579. Sheila Miller, now 40 years of age, never finished college. She had always been completely dependent upon her parents. R34, p. 1578-1579. Mr. and Mrs. Miller provided Sheila with money and a house. R34, p. 1579. They paid for her to go through drug rehabilitation, without success. R34, p. 1622. Sheila had stolen money from her parents in the past. R34, p. 2626. However, if Mr. and Mrs. Miller were to die, Sheila stood to inherit their entire estate. The estate was valued at three to four million dollars. R34, p. 1621.

According to Mr. Miller, Sheila's dependence upon Mr. and Mrs. Miller was a constant source of friction. Mrs. Miller wanted to give Sheila everything;

Mr. Miller wanted to give her nothing. R 34, p. 1579-1580. Sheila had recently been injured in a car accident which left her confined to a wheelchair. R34, p. 1582.

In the afternoon of July 21, 2006, some young men came to the Millers' house. R34, p. 1582. Sheila answered the door in her wheelchair. One of the men embraced her. R34, p. 1583. Mr. Miller excused himself to take a shower while Sheila visited with the men. Mr. Miller finished his shower and walked into the master bedroom. One of Sheila's house guests grabbed Mr. Miller and dragged him forcefully into Sheila Miller's bedroom. That man had a silver pistol. Mrs. Miller was on Sheila Miller's bed, covered in blood. R34, p. 1584-1586. Mrs. Miller told Mr. Miller not to worry because she "could handle it." R. 34, p. 1586. The man who grabbed Mr. Miller forced Mr. Miller do lie on the floor of Sheila's bedroom. R34, p. 1586-1587.

At the time he gave his courtroom testimony, Mr. Miller was 70 years old. R34, p. 1756. He had a hearing impairment and could not hear everything that occurred during the crimes. R34, p. 1587. He also admitted that he could not identify the assailants at trial. R34, p. 1584.

While Mr. Miller was lying on the floor of his daughter's bedroom, one of the assailants had their foot on his neck, pinning him to the floor. R34, p. 1588.

Nevertheless, Mr. Miller perceived other assailants moving his daughter into a different room. One of the family dogs entered Sheila's bedroom. Mr. Miller's captor threatened to shoot the dog it continued to bark. Mr. Miller hushed the dog. R34, p.1587-1590.

After five to ten minutes, Sheila was brought back into her bedroom. At this time, Mr. Miller felt his wife's body at his feet. He perceived the flash and sound of a gun. He felt something in his head. It is noteworthy that the State Medical Examiner testified at trial that the bullet was removed from Mr. Miller's head and preserved as evidence. R39, p. 2363, 2381 Obviously, Mr. Miller survived to testify at Appellant's trial. He did not lose consciousness. R34, p. 1588-1589. He then heard the assailants shoot Mrs. Miller a second time. Mr. Miller escaped out the bedroom window and went straight to neighbor Pat Murawski's house. R34, p. 1593. Mr. Miller did not see Sheila during any of the ordeal. R 34, p. 1621.

When the police and paramedics arrived, Mrs. Miller was still breathing but was otherwise unresponsive. R34, p. 1633, 1622. She had two puncture wounds. R34, p. 1668. She died en route to the hospital. R34, p. 1668-1669.

When Mr. Miller returned to the house, he discovered that his wallet was missing and five hundred dollars had been withdrawn from his bank account. Mr.

Miller described the Miller family van to the police. R34, p. 1604-1606. Sheila knew where Mr. Miller kept the van keys and his wallet. R34, p. 1624.

Using personal identification information provided by Mr. Miller and his bank, police soon received information that his credit cards and bank cards were being used in some nearby retail stores. R34, p. 1681,1682. Such card usage— and the police investigation related to such card usage— eventually yielded surveillance videos of the assailants driving and rolling the wheelchair-bound Sheila through a series of bank ATM machines and retail establishments. R35, p. 1703-1704.

An employee of a shopping mall remembered seeing a wheelchair-bound white female accompanied by black males heading toward a shopping mall ATM machine. R35, p. 1702. This employee testified that the female appeared drugged and possibly asleep. A jewelry store owner testified to seeing the same people in his jewelry store. R35, p. 1713-1717. Jewelry store video recordings containing images of the wheelchair-confined Sheila and the black males with her were turned over to police. R35, p. 1707-1712. A loss-prevention manager from a Lowes home-improvement store turned over similar surveillance video recordings. R35, p. 1719-1722. None of the surveillance video recordings showed Sheila attempting to escape or summon help.

E. Testimony of Sheila Miller

Sheila testified at Appellant's trial. She confirmed all of the things that her father had said about her substance-abuse problems and her dependence on her parents. R 35, p. 1732-1740. She admitted that she was a convicted felon. R35, p. 1792. Over the Objection of McGirth's attorney, the court allowed Sheila to testify that she and McGirth had a longstanding relationship based on drugs.

McGirth supplied her with cocaine and marijuana. McGirth even furnished Sheila and a boyfriend of Sheila's with drugs to distribute to others. R35, p. 1813-1820.

Sheila admitted that she gave the assailants admission into the Villages and directions to the Miller family home. 2006. R 35, p. 1741-1742. She was familiar with two of the three. She knew Defendant McGirth by his nickname of "Pooney" and she knew Codefendant Houston by his nickname of "Bro." R 35, p. 1742-1744. Sheila was able to identify the third guest, Roberts, in Court, but could not remember his name. R35, p. 1744-1745.

Sheila and McGirth had been good friends in the past. R35, p. 1748.

Mr. And Mrs. Miller would not allow Sheila to smoke anywhere but in her bedroom. Therefore, Sheila invited her three guests into her bedroom. Once there, McGirth told Houston to reach into a bag and give Sheila her gift. Houston pulled out a roll of duct tape. McGirth pointed a silver pistol at Sheila and admonished her to cooperate so that no one would get hurt. Sheila told him to stop joking. He

replied, "... this is for real." R35, p. 1749-1751.

After silencing and subduing Sheila by duct-taping her mouth and hands, one of the assailants called for Mrs. Miller. She entered Sheila's bedroom.

McGirth pushed her on the bed. Sheila told Mrs. Miller to give McGirth all of her money and possessions. Mrs. Miller responded that she had only \$70 in her possession because she had just purchased a new house for Sheila. R35, p. 1752-1753. McGirth replied that Mrs. Miller must have money because she lived in the Villages. Roberts then entered Sheila's bedroom with Mr. and Mrs. Millers' Wallets and car keys and handed them to McGirth. R35, p. 1754.

Sheila's statement about what happened next is very important. According to Sheila, Mrs Miller said that she would get the money. Mrs. Miller *raised her hands*, and rose to go to the bedroom door. McGirth, *who was standing at the bedroom door*, shot Mrs. Miller at point-blank range.

The bullet left a hole in Mrs. Miller's shirt. She coughed up blood and asked that 911 be called because she had been shot in the heart. R35, p. 1755.

This is the only gunshot that Sheila was aware of. R35, p. 1800. She recalled seeing Houston picking up one spent shell casings. She did not know if there were any more. R35, p. 1800. Sheila saw McGirth shoot her mother. R35, p. 1849.

She did not see Roberts shoot her mother. R35.

McGirth then wheeled Sheila into the bathroom and held the gun to her head. He warned her to "shut up" or he would "take care of" her. He did this because she was crying. She could not stop crying. Mrs. Miller told Sheila that she was all right and not to worry. R35, p. 1755-1756. While in the bathroom, Sheila could see and hear the assailants moving her mother. They moved Mrs. Miller into the computer room. McGirth commanded Mrs. Miller to order some telephones over the Internet. Mrs. Miller responded that she did not know how to. While this was occurring, Sheila could hear Houston ransacking the house. She also heard McGirth admonish Houston to wipe everything off so that there would be no fingerprints. Houston got Mrs. Miller a bottle of water. R35, p.1758-1759. Sheila chewed the duct tape off her hands and mouth and threw it into the bath tub. McGirth then wheeled Sheila from the bathroom to the computer room. Her mother was still conscious. R35, p.1760-1761

Sheila searched the Internet for the "Nextel" or "Boost" brand of phones that the assailants wanted. R35, p. 1763-1764. Next, with McGirth holding a gun to her head, Sheila called the 411 information operator and asked for the Nextel telephone number in an effort to order the desired Boost phones by telephone. When this proved unavailing, McGirth said that they would purchase the phones at the store instead. R35, p. 1764. The assailants told Sheila that they were going

to take her out of the house to get money using a bank card. Mrs. Miller begged the assailants to take her instead of Sheila. All of this occurred in the computer room of the Millers' house. R35, p. 1764.

Mr. Miller, who was in poor health and depended upon Mrs. Miller for help, had been in the shower during most of this. While Sheila was in the computer room, McGirth ordered Roberts to get Mr. Miller. Sheila recalled Roberts walking Mr. Miller into her bedroom and commanding him to lie on the floor. Mr. Miller indicated he needed to go to the bathroom. Sheila and Mrs. Miller begged the assailants to let Mr. Miller go because he had urinary problems. They allowed him to go to the bathroom. The assailants also had Mr. Miller move the family dog into his own bedroom because they were afraid of it. Mrs. Miller was laid down on the floor. She told Sheila to do what the assailants ordered and not worry. R35, p. 1765-1766.

The assailants took Mr. Miller back to Sheila's bedroom and ordered him back on the floor. R35, p. 1767. Houston wheeled Sheila from the computer room to the living room. 1768. McGirth told Houston to put Sheila in the Miller family van. R35, p. 1767-1768. When Houston had trouble pushing Sheila's wheelchair out the front door of the house, McGirth took over and wheeled Sheila to the van. Roberts lifted Sheila out of the wheelchair and placed her in the van.

Next, he put he put wheelchair in the back of the van and turned on the van radio. R35, p. 1768.

McGirth went back into the house for another 10 minutes or so. The van and a separate vehicle that the assailants had arrived in were both across the street from the Millers' residence. McGirth instructed Houston to move the van into the driveway of the Miller home. R35, p. 1769. Roberts and Sheila remained in the van while the other two assailants finished up inside the house. Houston exited the house and walked across the street to a silver automobile that the assailants had arrived in. McGirth took the driver's seat of the van. Both drivers drove away from the Millers' house. R35, p. 1769.

Thereafter, the assailants drove Sheila to a series of ATM machines and retail stores. They commanded Sheila to attempt to obtain cash and make purchases. R35, p. 1775-1785. McGirth warned Sheila that there was a fourth accomplice back at the Miller house who would "take care of" her parents if she did not cooperate. R35, p. 1769. Sheila did not attempt to summon help or escape out of fear of what this fictitious fourth accomplice might do to her parents. R35, p. 1769, 1777. Sheila testified that all three of the assailants took turns pushing Sheila through retail establishments in her wheelchair. R 35, p. 1779.

Houston abandoned the silver automobile at a K-mart parking lot and got

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