IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-976

RENALDO DEVON MCGIRTH

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX-(386)226-0457

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The closing argument claim, which relates solely to the guilt stage, is not a basis for reversal. There was no abuse of discretion by the trial court, and there is no legal support for a contrary conclusion. In any event, assuming that the issue is preserved in the first place, any error was harmless.

³² Spencer v. State, 615 So. 2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in instructing the jury, in response to a question from them, that "conscious intent" for purposes of the law of principals is not the same thing as premeditation for purposes of the law of homicide. The jury was correctly instructed, and there is no error.

The "victim impact" evidence claim is not preserved for review, and, even if it had been, no improper evidence was introduced. Moreover, any error was harmless.

The *"Williams* Rule" claim has no legal basis. The complained-of evidence was not introduced by the State, and does not fall within the scope of the Williams Rule. Moreover, the evidence at issue was not improper because it was an integral sequence of making up this part of the events crime. Alternatively, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The avoiding arrest aggravator was properly found, and is supported by competent substantial evidence. The sentencing court properly applied this aggravating factor in accord with well-settled Florida law. Alternatively, even without this aggravator, death remains the proper penalty.

Likewise, the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance was properly found in this case -- that aggravator is supported by competent substantial evidence. Under settled Florida law, that aggravator was properly found.

The heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator was also properly found in this case -- that aggravator is also supported by competent substantial evidence. Settled Florida law supports this aggravator, and also forecloses the notion that there is an "intent" element to the heinousness aggravator.

The Ring v. Arizona claim is foreclosed by binding precedent because McGirth was convicted of the underlying offense of robbery, as well as being convicted of a contemporaneous violent felony. Florida law precludes a Ring claim under such circumstances.

The evidence is more than sufficient to support McGirth's conviction -- his guilt was established beyond a reasonable doubt.

Likewise, McGirth's death sentence is proportional to the offense. Five aggravating factors were established, and the mitigation was minimal, at best. This Court has upheld death sentences that were less aggravated and more mitigated than this one.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CLOSING ARGUMENT CLAIM

On pages 38-41 of his brief, McGirth argues that he is entitled to relief based upon the State's comment, in closing argument, that:

That would be like giving the pilots of the two planes that crashed into the World Trade Center a pass --

(V47, R3478). While McGirth says this argument was made during the guilt stage of his capital trial, that is incorrect. Assuming that the issue is preserved, since the defense asked that the "Court direct the State not to discuss 9/11 in their closing," and the Court did exactly that, there is no basis for reversal for the reasons set out below. Florida law is settled that

Wide latitude is permitted in arguing to a jury. Breedlove v. State, 413 So. 2d 1, 8 (Fla. 1982). It is within the judge's discretion to control the comments made to a jury, and we will not interfere unless an abuse of discretion is shown. Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 904 (Fla. 1990); Breedlove, 413 So. 2d at 8.

Moore v. State, 701 So. 2d 545, 551 (Fla. 1997). Likewise, a trial court's ruling on a motion for mistrial is subject to an abuse of discretion standard of review. Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 546 (Fla. 1999); Thomas v. State, 748 So. 2d 970, 980 (Fla. 1999) (explaining that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion and should not be reversed absent an abuse of that discretion); Hamilton v. State, 703 So. 2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a ruling on a motion for mistrial is within the trial court's discretion); United States v. Puentes, 50 F.3d 1567, 1577 (11th Cir. 1995) (stating that district court's ruling on a motion for

mistrial is reviewed for abuse of discretion); United States v. Honer, 225 F.3d 549, 555 (5th Cir. 2000) (reviewing the denial of a motion for mistrial for abuse of discretion). There was no abuse of discretion, and there is no basis for relief.

In his brief, McGirth relies on *Ruiz v. State*, 743 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1999), to support his claim for relief. In fact, this Court said the following about the argument at issue in that case:

This blatant appeal to jurors' emotions was improper for a number of reasons: it personalized the prosecutor in the eyes of the jury and gained sympathy for the prosecutor and her family; it contrasted the defendant (who at that point had been convicted of murder) unfavorably with Ms. Cox's heroic and dutiful father; it put before the jury new evidence highly favorable to the prosecutor; it exempted this new evidence from admissibility requirements and from the crucible of cross-examination; and most important, it equated Ms. Cox's father's noble sacrifice for his country with the jury's moral duty to sentence Ruiz to death

Ruiz v. State, 743 So.2d 1, 7 (Fla. 1999). None of the reasons articulated by this Court in Ruiz are present in this case, and that decision does not help McGirth. Under the facts of this case, the state's argument was merely an analogy, as the trial court found. There was no abuse of discretion, and there is no basis for relief.

To the extent that McGirth says that "other courts" have criticized references to defendants as terrorists, he overreads those decisions. For example, in *Lung*, the court said:

The remarks regarding September 11 included a reference in opening statement to the date of the offense, September 16, 2001, as "about five days after the terrorist attack in New York City" and noting that things had been quiet between the terrorist attack and the end of the week following the attack; that there had not been a lot of crimes committed. Then, in inquiring of a police officer, the prosecutor asked if between "9-11" and the date of the offense, there had been much going on in the county.

In closing argument, the prosecutor suggested that things that might typically be considered harmless could be dangerous instruments. He alluded to circumstances of the September 11 incident for that purpose. He asked, "[B]efore September 11, 2001[,] who would have thought a set of knitting needles was a dangerous instrument[.]" He talked of people regularly getting on airplanes with such items. He did this with regard to jury instructions that used the term "dangerous instrument."

The trial court's conclusion that the remarks were not objectionable is not clearly erroneous.

Lung v. State, 179 S.W.3d 337, 342-343 (Mo. App. S.D., 2005). Likewise in Hernandez v. State, the appellate court did not find error:

Webster's Dictionary defines terrorism as "the act of terrorizing; use of force or threats to demoralize, intimidate, and subjugate." Webster's New World Dictionary 1469 (2nd College ed. 1986). In this case, Appellant used force and threat of force to intimidate his victims. We hold that the prosecutor was merely summarizing the evidence against Appellant, and did not violate Appellant's rights.

Hernandez v. State, 114 S.W.3d 58, 64 (Tex. App. 2003). People v. Kipp 26 Cal. 4th 1100 (2001), and Corwin v. State, 870 S.W. 2d 23 (Tex. Cr. App. 1993), contain no discussion of defendants being referred to as terrorists. In any event, the State's

argument in this case was not comparing McGirth to a terrorist, but rather was drawing an analogy to Sheila Miller's culpability vis a vis McGirth's. There was no improper argument, and there is no basis for relief.

Alternatively, without waiving the foregoing arguments, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and did not adversely affect McGirth's substantial rights. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Given the weight of the evidence against McGirth, which was, to say the least, overwhelming, there is no possibility that the argument at issue had any effect on the result. There is no basis for relief.

II. THE JURY QUESTION CLAIM

On pages 41-45 of his brief, McGirth says that the trial court incorrectly answered a jury question about the "conscious intent" component of the principal jury instruction. The standard of review applied to a decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997) (noting that a trial court has wide discretion in instructing the jury). There was no abuse of discretion, and, indeed, no legal error has even been identified. Because that is so, there is no basis for relief.

The question asked by the jury was whether "conscious intent" (for the law of principals) is the same thing as "premeditation" (for homicide). (V45, R3168). The trial court

answered the jury's question by correctly stating that conscious intent is not the same thing as premeditation, and that the law does not fix a specific amount of time that is necessary for the formation of "conscious intent." McGirth points to no decision indicating that the trial court's answer to the jury's question was wrong. In fact, Carranza v. State demonstrates that the trial court's response was correct:

Carranza expressed his intent to participate in murder and by choking Bataille did an act to assist Sandoval in committing the crime. This evidence was sufficient to show a conscious intent to participate in the murder, and the state presented sufficient evidence of premeditation to withstand a judgment of acquittal.

Carranza v. State, 985 So. 2d 1199, 1202 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008). The legal concepts are different, and the response of the trial court was proper in all respects.

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, the evidence demonstrates that McGirth was the individual who shot Diana Miller, and that he is the person who ultimately executed Ms. Miller with a gunshot to the head. (V9, R1523-24, V45, R3170-71). Because that is so, McGirth's argument that he might have been convicted of offenses that he did not "intend or assist with" fails for want of a factual basis, assuming that argument is preserved to begin with. See, V45, R3155 et. seq. This claim is not a basis for relief.

Alternatively, without waiving the foregoing arguments, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and did not adversely affect McGirth's substantial rights. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). There is no basis for relief.

III. THE VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE CLAIM

On pages 46-50 of his brief, McGirth argues that "excessive and inflammatory victim-impact evidence" was introduced at the penalty phase of his capital trial. The testimony at issue came from four witnesses, and amounts to approximately 40 pages of transcript. McGirth did not object to any of the testimony, did not cross-examine any of those witnesses, and had no objection to the minimal items of evidence introduced during their testimony. Because McGirth did not object at all, he has preserved nothing for review.

Florida law is settled that a specific objection is required to preserve a victim impact issue for appellate review.

This Court has clearly held that a proper objection is required:

The failure to contemporaneously object to a comment the basis that it constitutes improper victim testimony renders the claim procedurally barred absent fundamental error. See, e.g., Norton v. State, 709 So. 2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997); see also Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 (Fla. 1997). In Burns v. State, 699 So. 2d 646, 653-54 (Fla. 1997), this Court ruled that a defendant's challenge to victim impact testimony on basis that it was unduly prejudicial the procedurally barred because the defendant did not raise this specific objection at trial. Moreover, in

Norton, this Court determined that a defendant's motion for a mistrial at the conclusion of a witness's testimony was insufficient to preserve the witness's impermissible comment for appellate review. 709 So .2d at 94.

Sexton's claim the that State witnesses provided improper victim impact testimony was not preserved for appellate review because defense counsel failed to contemporaneously object during the testimony either Boron or Barrick. Furthermore, even if the motion for a mistrial at the conclusion of Boron's testimony was sufficient for preservation purposes, defense counsel did not request the mistrial on the grounds now raised on appeal. See Burns, 699 So. 2d at 653-54. Rather, defense counsel moved for a mistrial arguing that Boron wept during her testimony and made reference to Sexton's first improper Accordingly, because Sexton did not properly preserve the issue for appellate review, Sexton's claims the victim pertaining to impact testimony procedurally barred unless the victim impact testimony constitutes fundamental error.

Sexton v. State, 775 So. 2d 923, 932 (Fla. 2000). McGirth did not object to the admission of the testimony at issue (beyond a general, legally invalid, pre-trial objection), and has not preserved this claim for review. 33 Further, he has not argued that there was fundamental error in the admission of this testimony - - there is no basis for relief.

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, McGirth's claim is virtually indistinguishable from the victim-

³³ McGirth's pre-trial objections were general in nature, and the trial court expressly stated in its order that the issue could be raised after discovery was concluded. (Vol. 2, R. 366-67). McGirth never raised the issue again.

impact claim that this Court rejected in Wheeler. In that decision, this Court said:

During the entire presentation of victim evidence, Wheeler made no specific objections to any portion of the testimony or any particular aspect of the photographic evidence, although Wheeler renewed his general objection to presentation of any victim impact evidence. 34 We conclude that the claim Wheeler victim impact makes that the evidence impermissibly made a feature of the penalty phase was not preserved by Wheeler's general pretrial objections addressed to all victim impact evidence, where he made to objections any of the presented and failed to object below on the grounds argued here. It is well-established that for a claim "to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below." F.B. v. State, 852 So. 2d 226, 229 (Fla. 2003) (quoting Steinhorst v. State, 412 338 (Fla. 1982)). Moreover, 2d 332, appeal, Wheeler still fails to identify any specific error in admission of the victim impact testimony or photographs. See Deparvine v. State, 995 So. 2d 351, 378 (Fla. 2008) ("Initially, we reject this claim [of error in admission of victim impact evidence] because Deparvine ... fails to sufficiently identify the error.")

Wheeler v. State, 4 So. 3d 599, 606 (Fla. 2009). See also, Farina v. State, 937 So. 2d 612, 628-629 (Fla. 2006).

Alternatively, without waiving the procedural bar, there is no basis for relief because there is no error. None of the evidence was improper, and none of it was contrary to the restrictions placed on victim impact testimony. Even if this claim had been preserved by timely objection, there is no legal

³⁴ Unlike Wheeler, McGirth did not renew any previously-raised objection to the victim impact evidence.

error, and, consequently, no legal basis for reversal. Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808 (1991); Windom v. State, 656 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 1995).

Alternatively, without waiving the foregoing arguments, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, and did not adversely affect McGirth's substantial rights. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Given the weight of the evidence against McGirth, which was, to say the least, overwhelming, it makes no sense to suggest that the descriptions of the victim (which did not include any improper content) caused or contributed to the jury's sentencing recommendation. McGirth's own conduct earned him a sentence of death, and that would have been the sentence even if there had been no victim impact evidence at all. There is no basis for relief of any sort.

IV. THE "WILLIAMS RULE" CLAIM

On pages 51-56 of his brief, McGirth argues that the State was improperly allowed to introduce "Williams Rule" evidence concerning the "drug based" relationship that existed between Sheila Miller and the defendant. The admissibility of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling will not be reversed unless there has been a clear abuse of that discretion. Ray v. State, 755 So. 2d 604, 610 (Fla. 2000); Zack v. State, 753 So. 2d 9, 25 (Fla. 2000).

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